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Kaese Mill 
Accident 
Private 1868 

Kaese Mill, constructed in 1868 by Henry August Kaese a 
skilled miller from Germany, is a 2-story frame water-powered 
grist mill located north of Accident on Bear Creek. 

It is powered by a 20-horsepower iron overshot wheel 
manufactured by the Fitz Water Wheel Co,, Hanover, PA. The wheel 
is 16 feet in diameter and is located on the south elevation. 

Kaese Mill is significant as the only water powered mill still 
in operation in Garrett County. 
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1. Name 

historic Kaese Mill 

and/or common Kaese Mill 

2. Location 

street & number Fish Hatchery Road 
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city, town Accident _x_ vicinity of congressional district Sixth 

state Maryland 

3. Classification 
Category 
_district 
_x_ building(s) 

code 24 county 

Status 
_occupied 
_x_ unoccupied 

Garrett 

Present Use 

code 023 

__ museum 
__ park 

- _ structure 
_site 
_object 

Ownership 
_public 
_x_ private 
_both 
Public Acquisition 
__ in process 

_ work in progress 
Accessible 
_yes: restricted 
_yes: unrestricted 
_x__ no 

_ agriculture 
_x__ commercial 
_ educational 
_ entertainment 
_ government 
_ industrial 
_military 

__ private residence 
_religious 
__ scientific 

_ being considered 
__!_not applicable 

4. Owner of Property 

name Honorable Clifford and Mrs. Nellie Friend 

street & number Route 2 Box 105 

city, town Accident __x_ vicinity of 

5. Location of Legal Description 

courthouse, ';°e~lstry of deeds, etc. Garrett County Courthouse 

street & nurober Third and Alder Streets 

city, town Oakland 

6. Representation in Existing Surveys 

__ transportation 
__ other: 

state Maryland 21520 

state Maryland 21550 

j 

Coal Basin Historic Sites Survey 
title Maryland Historical Trust has this property been determined elegible? __ yes JL_ no 

date 1982 _ federal _x_ state __ county _ local 

depository for survey records Maryland Historical Trust, 21 State Circle 

city, town 
Annapolis 

state 
Maryland 21401 



' 7. Description 

Condition 
__ excellent 

_. __X__good 
__ fair 

__ deteriorated 
__ ruins 
__ unexposed 

Check one 
___!_ unaltered 
__ altered 

G-II-E-024 

Check one 
_!___ original site 
-- moved date __ n_:_/_a __________ _ 

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance 

Number of Resources 
Contributing Noncontributing 

l 0 buildings 

Number of previously listed 
National Register properties: 0 

0 0 sites 
0 0 structures 

Original and historic functions 
and uses: commercial, industrial 

0 0 objects 

l 0 Total ----

DESCRIPTION SUMMARY: 

Kaese Mill, constructed in 1868, is a two and one half story frame water 
powered grist mill located on the south side of Fish Hatchery Road near Accident 
in Garrett County, Maryland. It is powered by a twenty horsepower iron overshot 
wheel manufactured by the Fitz Water Wheel Company of Hanover, Pennsylvania. The 
wheel is sixteen feet in diameter and is located on the south elevation. The 
mill rests on a concrete and stone foundation and is three bays wide and four 
bays deep. Entrances are located on the north and west elevations and the 
wineows all have 6/6 sash. The walls are covered with weatherboard siding and the 
steeply pitched gable roof with standing seam metal. A mill race runs from Bear 
Creek, east of the mill, under Fish Hatchery Road and directs water into a wooden 
flume which begins three hundred feet east of the mill. The flume was once supported 
by a wooden frame; this has been replaced with a fieldstone base. The mill, still 
occasionally used by the present owner to grind buckwheat, retains nearly all of 
its late nineteenth and early twentieth century equipment, including the French­
made stone burrs with straight furrows, steel rollers, sifters, bolting reels, 
grain hoppers and a balance ecale. In fact the Kaese ~.ill is virtually unchanged 
either on the exterior or in the interior and is in good condition and still 
functional. Only those parts of the machinery or exterior which were worn out 
were repaired or replaced. 

For General Description see Continuation Sheet No. 1 

---------------------
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION: 

Kaese Mill, built by the German immigrant miller Henry August Kaese in 1868, 
is a two and one half story frame water-powered grist mill located on Bear Creek, 
north of Accident in Garrett County, Maryland. The mill stands on the south side 
of Fish Hatchery Road near the junction with Collier Road in a rural and heavily 
wooded area. 

The mill rests on a concrete and stone foundation which replaces the original 
foundation damaged by a W.P.A. road crew in the 1930s. The two and one half story 
frame building is three bays wide and four bays deep and faces north on Fish 
Hatchery Road. The walls are covered with unpainted weatherboard siding and the 
steeply pitched gable roof with standing seam metal. The windows all have 6/6 
sash, although a few have been boarded up or knocked out. There is a large central 
opening on each story of the front facade through which grain and other supplies 
were hoisted by the mechanism located at the top gable. Entrances are located on 
the north and west elevations. 

Kaese Mill is powered by a twenty horsepower iron overshot wheel manufactured 
by the Fitz Water Wheel Company of Hanover, Pennsylvania. This rim-leverage wheel, 
now kept uncovered, is a c. 1900 replacement of the original wooden wheel installed 
in 1868. The original cogs, wheels and mechanisms of the wheel were all wooden, 
but have been replaced by iron ones. 

A mill race runs from Bear Creek, east of the mill, under Fish Hatchery Road 
and directs water into a wooden flume which begins three hundred feet east of the 
mill. The head race was originally supported on two wooden posts at the wheel 
but later had to be replaced on dry layed stones. The head is created naturally 
by the flow and direction of the Creek - no dam was necessary. There was no 
race built and the water simply flowed through a shallow ditch back out to the 
creek. 

The mill itself is still operational, although now run only occasjonally by 
the present owner to grind buckwheat. Much of the late nineteenth and early 
twentieth century machinery and milling equipment still remains, including the 
French-made stone burrs with straight furrows, steel rollern:il~sifters,a gyrator, 
a bolting.reel, grain chutes, hoppers and a balance scale. Several of the pieces 
of machihery still have the manufacturers' names on them. For example, the 
gyrator has the words "This Gyrator built by the Wolf Co., Chambersburg, Pa., 
Patented December 21, 1857," inscribed on its base and there is an inscription 
American Bolting Reel" on the bolter. 

The machinery is in good to excellent condition and has been only slightly 
altered since the turn of the 20th century. There has been some damage to the 
more fragile portions, however, i.e. squirrels have eaten some of the canvas 
chutes and the Japanese silk screening in the sifter is torn on some of the plates. 
The large rubber belts now used are replacements of the older worn out leather ones. 

See Continuation Sheet No. 2 
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The lumber used in the construction of Kaese Mill was sawn at a small 
water-powered saw mill located near the original mill pond approximately halfway 
between the present mill and Bear Creek. No above-ground remains of the saw 
are still standing, however. 

-



8. Significance G-Il-B-024 

Period 
__ prehistoric 
_ 1400-1499 
_ 1500-1599 
_ 1600-1699 
_ 1700-1799 
_x_ 1800-1899 
_1900-

Specific dates 

Areas of Significance-Check and justify below 
__ archeology-prehistoric __ community planning __ landscape architecture __ religion 
__ archeology-historic __ conservation __ law __ science 
__ agriculture __ economics __ literature __ sculpture 
L architecture __ education __ military __ social/ 
__ art _x__ engineering __ music humanitarian 
x_ commerce __ exploration.1settlement __ philosophy __ theater 
__ communications x_ industry __ politics/government __ transportation 

__ invention __ other (specify) 

1868 Builder/Architect Henry August Kaese, Sr. 

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph) 

Applicable Criteria: 
Applicable Exceptions: 

Level of Significance for Evaluation: 

SIGNIFICANCE SUMMARY: 

A, C 
none 
state 

The Kaese Mill near Accident in Garrett County is the only fully operational 
water powered grist mill in Maryland. 

It is unaltered, in good operating condition 
and displays a virtual museum of mill machinery inside. It was built in 1868 by 
Henry August Kaese, Sr., an immigrant miller from Germany who settled in Garrett 
County shortly after the Civil War. Kaese Mill, like many of the other floar and 
grist mills which once stood throughout Garrett County, was once an important 
economic and trading center. Many of these mills were also centers of social and 
political life in their immediate areas by virtue of the fact that they served 
as U. S. Post Offices. Kaese Mill alternated this honor for many years with the 
Engles Mill which once stood nearby, depending on which political party was in 
power. The mill is still operated by descendants of Henry Kaese. 

For History and Supporting documentation, see Continuation Sheet No. 3 
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HISTORY AND SUPPORT: 

The Kaese Mill near Accident in Garrett County is significant as the only 
fully operational water-powered grist mill in Maryland as well as one of.th: 
oldest mills of any kind in the state. Although there are several functioning 
grist mills still standing in Maryland, such as Wye Mill in Talbot County, 
Stanton's Mill in Garrett County, Rockland Mills in Baltimore County and others, 
these have either been converted to other forms of power or are presently used as 
museums. Kaese Mill is therefore an important example of a commercial enterprise 
once very common in Garrett County and Maryland. 

Probably the earliest mill built in what is now Garrett County was 
Vrooman's (Froman's) Mill which was erected near the mouth of Mill Run in 1774. 
Vrooman's Mill, the first of two flour mills, eight sawmills, and one woolen 
factory to be built in the nineteenth century on Mill Run, featured an overshot 
water wheel and a mechanical blower for winnowing. Gristmills were built 
throughout the nineteenth century in such rural communities as Swanton, Grantsville 
and Selbysport and formed the basis of such towns as Kitzmiller and Oakland, the 
future county seat. Of these nearly two dozen mills, only the Kaese Mill and 
Stanton's Mill near Grantsville (listed in the National Register) still stand. 

Early nineteenth century Garrett County gristmills served vital functions 
in self-subsistent agrarian frontier communities, The traffic they generated 
often provided virtually the only contact isolated farmers had with the outside 
world and were sometimes constructed through an agreement with small groups of 
farmers who considered the convenient siting of a mill a practical necessity. 
Due to the scarcity of money the millers of the early nineteenth century in 
Garrett County customarily retained a portion of grain from each bushel brought 
in as a standard "toll" for their services. Mills were therefore an important 
part of the barter economy of early nineteenth century Garrett County. 

Mills were also centers of community activities. Not only were they 
meeting places for the exchange of news, but they also served as area trading 
posts for bartered goods. For many years, Kaese's Mill and nearby Engles Mill 
competed both commercially and politically. Both communities served as u. s. 
Post Offices, but the location changed depending on which party was in office: 
Kaese Milr when the Democrats were in power and Engle's Mill when the 
Republicans held office. 

Henry August Kaese, the founder of Kaese Mill, was an immigrant German miller 
who moved 70.w:stern Maryland with his wife in the 1850s. Before settling in the 
~ccident vicinity, he operated grist mills in West Virginia and at Borden Shaft 
in Al;ega~y County, Ma~yl~nd, .For a few years he worked at the aforementioned ' 
Engle s Mill before building his own mill and home on newly cleared farmland. 

See Continuation Sheet No, 4 
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HISTORY AND SUPPORT (continued) 

A sawmill was first built on the flood plain just below the mill to supply 
the lumber for the construction of the grist mill. While the grist mill was 
under construction Kaese lived in a small house which now stands in back of the 
present owner's home. When the gristmill was completed a larger frame house was 
constructed about where the driveway now exists. When the present owners built 
their home they razed the old house. 

Although the mill is now only operated infrequently by Senator Frien~ Kaese 
Mill in its heyday once employed between five and six men on two shifts working 
both day and night. Unlike most other gristmills still standing in the state, 
it is privately owned and not operated as a museum. 

10. VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION: 

..:. 

Boundaries are depicted on the attached plat, and are defined by Fish Hatchery 
Road on the north and east, Maryland Route 219 on the west, and Bear Creek on 
the south. 

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION: 

The nominated property, approximately 7 acres, encompasses the resource 
within its immediate setting and maintains its historic orientation to Bear 
Creek and Fish Hatchery Road. 



----------------------~,...,~----------------------------'~--------------------~ :g. Major Bibliog. aphical References G-II-B-024 

McGrain, John W., Jr. The Molinography of Maryland. 1971. Unpublished 
manuscript on file at the Maryland Historical Trust. - Schlosnagle, Stephen. Garrett County: A History of Maryland's Tableland. (Parson's 
W. Va.: McClain Printing Co., 1978). 

10. Geographical Data 
Acreage of nominated property Approximately 7 acres 
Quadrangle name Accident, Maryland Quadrangle scale 1 : 24 , 000 
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See Continuation Sheet No. 4. 

List all st•tes •nd counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries 

state n/a code county code 

code county code 

11. Form Prepared By 

name/title Geoffrey Henry with contributions by Donna Ware 

organization Maryland Historical Trust date 1984 

street & number 21 State Circle telephone (301) 269-2438 

city or town Annapolis state Maryland 21401 

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification 
The evalueted significance of this property within the state Is: 

_national _!___state _local 

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89-
665), I hereby nominate this property for Inclusion In the National Register and certify that It has been evaluated 
according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the Heritage Con~/tlon and Recreation Service. 

State Historic Preservation Officer signature 7 ~ 0: T-J7y 
STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICER date 

GPO 11311 935 
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Mr. Paul T. Calderwood Seotember 29,1967 
Garrett County nistoricP-1 Societ7 
P.O. Box 26 
Deer Park, ~~ryl~nd 

De'lr l·~r. Cnlderwood, 

You were very kind to call on ue e.t Anns.nolie on lhureda.y to bring 

in the report on the Ia.eee mill in Accident. we alto apnrec1ate 

70ur request th~t the Maryland Historical Trust con@ider 1te-p1 

to nreserve this unique relic of an earlier way of life. 

v:e deenly a.:inreci,.,_te the A.seht-1.nce you h"lve ~Ten us in recording 

oth~r G~r~ett County land'!'l'l"l.rks and look forward to a Tery nleasant 

rel<-.tionshin with your Society n!ld 1 h memb~rs. 

OR/11.p 

Very truly yours, 

Orl~ndo Bidout IV 
Director 



K111·e.1·'• Mill, .Ht·ur ,Cruuk, Tiu• 111111 wu111 1111..1 lu~l l'' uptirutu in tlw Cuu11tY. It iii lu~utud on 
I he 1 •111d 111 I h1· titulo fro_11l I lul1.ht~I y. It IJulo11HH lt1 Su11utur M1hl M 1'.b, Cliflort! Friimd. Mni. 
l•11e·11d Wu!t tin: d1•uKhlt!f oJ the l)uil1h·r ut llw 111tll. "J'l1u ull.:hi111l w1u, 11111</o !Jy Uoh 111 r 'J'/ 1.imp!tt1ll 
1•/ A/111..uu/1111, V11 j1111~1. 

l'iose to tuw11. Here we disputched Hetrick and Kaupp to reconnoiter 
tlw towll 111HI tu find out more definitely of their reul whereubouts. Our 
spic~ :moll returned witlt tlte i11fornwtio11 tlrnt the two villiun~ !111d gone 
u11t to stny over night ut old Cupt11in West's pluce, with ull of their 
plunder. Uy this time the ruin was pouring down in torrents, so tlrnt 
wu were drenched to our skins, u11d found it difficult to keep our lock~ 
Hild puwdur dry. We l1uniudly ugreed lo ubunclon pursuit u11til the 
next duy. 

Eurly the next 1110r11illg we huslelled to Accident, und soon leurned 
thut 11nutlwr purt.y uf gt!11t lernen wern uflt!r them. The Glotfelty boys 
of tlw Glrnles, und their twq~lrliurs, ruutud them eurly' ut the West form 

' ' ' g1v1ng then1 a hut chase und u close sltuve for their lives. 
It .se.t!tlls the old captuin lrud pluyetl u trick on his obnoxious guests, 

IJy l11d111~ their clutl1es uni! their uccuuterme11ts uwuy in unother room, 
lock111~ t.11e door, su they hud to flee rninus these essentials. Euch of the 

f>O 

two had barely time to get a horse out of the stable before the Glot­
felty boy111 were right 011 them, but eqch pf the re\Jels rode uwuy at full 
speed, cuttiug their bundles loose, tht! boys firing Ht them without effect. 

But the boys were in close pursuit, and soon one of the rebel•;, 
lagging behind, ubundonec! his horse und disuppeHred in the woods. The 
other, huving old Mr. Specht's fust horse, soon out-tlistunced the boys, 
und when he found thut he had gained sufficiently on them, us lie 

huppened to come pust the old Mr. McHenry plucc he compelled nn 
old Nt!gro to give hirn his best suit of clothes, hat and gun. Then, mean­
dering ull duy uheud of the boys, he pulled up for the night ut the old 
stone tuvern (Tomlinson?) on the pike. His pursuers thought it expedi­
ent to stop with some furmer u few miles on the other side until the 
next morning, thinking they could cupture their g1une more easily. But 
he wus on to their job, und before they had urrived he hud token his 
depurture in the direction of Sulisbury. They were successful in cnp­
turing their mun that forenoon in P. S. Hays store. He was hundcuffed 
unc! taken to Gruntsville, nnd from thence sent to Cumberland c1nd 
lodged in jail. But subsequently u band of rebel raiders broke into the 
city, looting it und breuking open the prison. The prisoner made his 

escupe. 
We ufterwards learned thut these two chups were deserters from 

the 54th. Pennsylvaniu Volunteers, but whether they were ever c11p­

tured or court murttuled I do not know. 
Wt!ll, the boys felt none the worse over the excitement and fun. 

All, no doubt, would huvc felt !Jetter if the fellows could have had their 
just punishment, but the farmers were all too glud to get their hor~ws 
back, und the merchants, too, huving most of their goods returned. So, 
on the whole, it wus something to think of and talk about for some time 
ufterward. I shull not soon forget thut night's experience. On our re· 
turn home, when we got to the Beur Creek hills, we dischnrged our 
gun~. There wus 11 mighty rour urn! thundt!r down through the glt!n. 
Soon every house in the neighborhood had 1:1 light shining---ull won­

dering whut would happen next. 
"Mi111Jlec.J with doubts, ltopes and feurs 
With <1chi11g ht:wrts mid Imming tears; 
But few ure left of tlte Noble Ten 
Tlwt t,rwrcJec.J tho road through Relit Creek Glen." 

Footnott!s: When the Editor of TAl:lLELAND TRAILS rem! this story 
to hi~ Uncle Thmldeus Hinebuugh, severul ye11rs Hgo, the !utter pro­
vided the following comment ubout Accident, Md. us he remembered it 
ubout the time thut the "Noble Ten of Bear Creek" were living: 

"Richurd Fuirull built the house in which your fntnily livt.!d during 

World Wur I. It is now occupied by E1:1rl Ault." 
"The store of Richurd Fairall is now the Mutthew Store--for 

!) l 
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The front dust cover depicts 
Kaese's Mill on Bear Creek near Acci-
dent. It was built by J:lenrv Aug,us1 
Kaese in 1868. He was a skilled mill~r 
and came with his wife Carol.int to the 
Accident district where he worked on 
another mill along Bear Creek before _..­
he built his mill. After his death, his 
son, Henry August Kaese, Jr., took 
over and operated the mill until his 
death. The Honorable and Mrs. Clif-
ford Friend have owned and operated 
the mill since ~- Mrs. Friend is a 
daughter of Henry A. Kaese, Jr. Th.is 
mill is the only gristmill still in opera-
tion in the county . Mr. Friend re­
cently restored the flume. 

The pen and ink drawing was done 
by Mrs . Adeline Sincell Ruckert on lo­
cation in 1972. 

m 
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90 THE GLADES STAR 

FLOU R MILLS 

Engle's !\till wu built in 1836 by 
Sftmuel Engle, then owner of the 
!arm located on Bear Creek near the 
present site of the State Fish Hatch­
ery. At that time there were seven 
fa milies-Engles and Swalps- living 
in log cabins. One cabin was used as 
a church and school. About 1868 a 
large plank house was built to be used 

Sisler's sawmill has been operat.l11c 
near the former s ite of Weller's Mill 

Mr. Weller, who owned the p~ 
erty and had the mill built, was ~ 
gr:ind!alher o! Harry, Joe, and Wal. 
ter Collier, and gave the mill It. 
name. Peter Reitz; and J oe Carb.f 
were among those who operated th. 
mill. ~eller's Mill was closed aboqt 
1894. 

as a dwelling, a store, and ways ide LUMBER 

inn, as the Bittinger-Accident High- About l894, J. w. McCullough, ol 
way was a main thoroughfare. The Friendsville, Maryland, and H. l. 
graveyard nearby s howed twelve Clark, o! Loch Haven, Pennsylvania. 
members of these families were erected a sawmill at the junction a( 

buried t.here. Big and Little Bear Creek, usinr • 
In 1889 the property was acquired wooden tramway to convey logs i. 

by Samuel A. Miller, who lived t.here mill. ·They began as Clark and Mo. 
until his death in 1928. Cullough and later beceme the Bear 

After the- flour mill wa.s in oper- Creek Lumber company. 
alion, a German man and wife, Henry In 1898 Walter S. Taylor built • 
and Caroline Kae:;e, operated the mill large band mill at Friendsville •~ 
for Mr. E'ngle and also helped to about twenty miles of narrow-gauc­
clear a farm. Henry Kaese came to railroad up Big Bear Creek o~ 
Accident District as a skilled miller. Negro Mountain and ecross Meado" 
Maple syrup was made in a primi•. Mountain almost to Swanton, tnM­
tive way. The elder Mr. Kaese once porting albout one and a half millloa 
told Mr. Ralph Miller that he began !eet of logs yearly f or approximatdr 
in America by working twelve hours six years. Clark and McCullough ,.. 
a day on the farm and six houn a moved the hardwood, and the &l• 
day more in the flour mill at the rate dow Mountain Company the spruce OI 

o! six dollar.s per month. the same railroad. The road ,,... 
Engle's fr\ill was operated last by "taken up to Engre's Mill and thtll 

Silas Miller, who operated it until taken over by David and Jacob Stat. 
approximately the time of the death ler, of J'ohnstown, Penn~yln~ 
of bis fat.her, and bu since been known as Johnstown Planing iD r/. 
destroyed. Company, who operated a m fl 

During the '60's a second flour mill Friendsville and the North Branch 
was erected jus t below the site of Bea r Creek railroad for about fad 
Engle's Mill on Big Bear Creek. This years. 
mill was owned and ope:ated by the At the same time the carttr 
elder Henry Kaese until hls death, Brothers, known u the Lock H•: 
t.hen by his son, Henry, until his Lumber Company, operated al 
death and is still in operation. South Branch railroad with a mill 

The exact date of the building of Friendsville. The railroad was tak; 
Weller's Flour Mill is obscure, but up entirely. J. . W. ?rtcCull00 

.,. 

we do know that it was built by J ere- _George D. Brownm~, and W:~ 
miah Durst and a man named Meese. Savage also used t.h1s same f3l dilll 
This mill was located on the South in a lumbering operation exten di" 
Branch of Bear Creek about a half from Rock Lick to the Upper r~ 
mile below where U. S. Route 2191 of the South Branch of Bear 
croi.ses this stream. In recent years in the Weller's Flour Mill area-

THE G. 

AND FAIRALL FA~IILI 

Jlt Thomu West, an Engli 
flikllt. was the emigr:int ancclltor 

t .. We.st family o! Accident, Carn 
Oiotf· He was sent to Virginia 

: .... Eli:r:abeth as treasure r of th ,-.,. 
the 
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Kaese Mill 

flLOCATION 
STREET & NUMBER 

Fish Hatchery Road, South side, approximately 1000 feet east of Rt. 219 and 2 miles 
CITY. TOWN North of Accident CONGRESSIONAL DISTRICT 

Accident !,.__VICINITY OF Maryland 6th 
STATE 

Maryland 

llCLASSIFICATION 

CATEGORY 

_DISTRICT 

~BUILOING(S) 

_STRUCTURE 

_SITE 

_OBJECT 

OWNERSHIP STATUS 

_PUBLIC poCCUPIEO 

#RIVA TE _UNOCCUPIED 

-BOTH _WORK IN PROGRESS 

PUBLIC ACQUISITION ACCESSIBLE 

_IN PROCESS _YES RESTRICTED 

_BEING CONSIDERED _YES UNRESTRICTED 

..6NO 

DOWNER OF PROPERTY 
NAME 

Nelle Kaese Friend 
!;TREET & NUMBER 

Fish Hatchery Road 
C!TY. TOWN 

Accident _x VICINITY OF 

llLOCATION OF LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
COURTHOUSE 

REGISTRY OF DEEDS.ETC Garrett County Courthouse 
STREET & NUMBER 

Third and Alder Streets 
CITY.TOWN 

Oakland 

0REPRESENTATION IN EXISTING SURVEYS 
TITLE 

None 
DATE 

COUNTY 

Garrett County 

PRESENT USE 

_AGRICULTURE _MUSEUM 

~OMMERCIAL _.PARK 

_EDUCATIONAL _PRIVATE RES:OENCE 

_ENTERTAINMENT _RELIGIOUS 

_GOVERNMENT _SCIENTIFIC 

_){INDUSTRIAL _TRANSPORTATION 

_MILITARY _OTHER 

Telephone #: 

STATE ' zip code 
Maryland 21520 

Liber #: 
Folio #: 

STATE 

Maryland 21550 

_FEDERAL -STATE _COUNTY _LOCAL 

DEPOSITORY FOR 

SURVEY RECORDS 

CITY. TOWN STATE 



B DESCRIPTION 

_EXCELLENT 

2.SGOOD 

_FAlfl 

CONDITION 

_DETERIORATED 

_RUINS 

_UNEXPOSED 

CHECK ONE 

25,_ UNALTERED 

__ALTERED 

CHECK ONE 

~RIGINAL SITE 

_MOVED DATE----

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

Kaese Mill, constructed in 1868, is a 2-story frame water-powered 
grist mill located north of Accident on Bear Creek. It is powered by 
a 20-horsepower iron overshot wheel manufactured by the Fitz Water 
Wheel Co., Hanover, PA. The wheel is 16 feet in diameter and is 
located on the south elevation. 

The mill rests on a concrete and stone foundation and measures 
3 bays by 4 bays. The walls are covered with weatherboard siding 
and the gable roof with standing seam metal. There is a central 
entrance on·the facade.north elevation1 which opens directly onto 
Fish Hatchery Road. There are central openings at the second story 
and attic level of the facade through which materials were hoisted 
into the mill by a hoist above at the gable peak. There is another entrance 
at the north end of the west elevation. The windows are 6/6 sash, 

A mill race runs from Bear Creek, east of the mill, under Fish 
Hatchery Road and directs water into a wooden flume which begins 300 
feet east of the mill. The flume was once supported by a wooden 
frame--the present owner has replaced this with a fieldstone base. 

The mill, still marginally used by the present owner to grind buck­
wheat, retains its 19th and early 20th century equipment: stone burrs 
with straight furrows, made in France (according to the owner), steel 
rollers, sifters, a gyrator, a bolting reel, grain chutes, hoppers, 
a balance. scale, and the previously mentioned Fitz Water Wheel. Leather 
belts have been replaced with rubber ones. 

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY 



II SIGNIFICANCE 

- PERIOD 

_PREHISTORIC 

_1400-1499 

_1500-1599 

-1600-1699 

_1700-1799 

;;51 800-1899 

_1900-

AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE -- CHECK AND JUSTIFY BELOW 

--ARCHEOLOGY-PREHISTORIC _COMMUNITY PLANNING 

~RCHEOLOGY-HISTORIC _CONSERVATION 

--AGRICULTURE _ECONOMICS 

--ARCHITECTURE _EDUCATION 

--ART _ENGINEERING 

~OMMERCE _EXPLORATION/SETTLEMENT 

_COMMUNICATIONS AINDUSTRY 

_INVENTION 

_LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE 

_LAW 

_LITERATURE 

_MILITARY 

_MUSIC 

_PHILOSOPHY 

_POLITICS/GOVERNMENT 

_RELIGION 

_SCIENCE 

_SCULPTURE 

_SOCIAUHUMANITARIAN 

_THEATER 

_TRANSPORTATION 

_QTHER !SPECIFY) 

SPECIFIC DATES 1868 BUILDER/ ARCHITECT Henry August Kaese, Sr. 

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Kaese Mill is significant as the only water powered mill still in 
operation in Garrett County. Also, it is unaltered, in good operating 
condition, and displays a virtual museum of mill machinery inside. 

It \·ms constructed in 1868 by Henry August Kaese, an itinerant 
skilled miller from Germany. He and his

1
wife, Caroline Newmiller, 

innnigrated to this country in the 1850s, He apparently operated grist 
mills in West Virginia and at Borden Shaft, Maryland before settling 
in the Accident district. 2 

In the Accident area, he worked as the miller at Engles Mill,3 

(which once stood ~ mile east of Kaese Mil:i), and cleared fallillland. 
In 1868, he built Kaese Mill which became a competitor of Engle's Mill, 
not only connnereially but politically. Both connnunities served as U.S. 
post offices, but the location changed depending on which party was in 
power: Kaese Mill, when the Democrats were in power and Engle's Mill, 
when the Republicans were in power. 4 

Kaese's son, Henry Jr. (b. 1862), continued to operate the mill 
until his death in 1930 at which time his daughter, Nell5~ and her 
husband, Senator Clifford Friend, moved to the property. Senator 
Friend has operated the mill since that time. 

According to Senator Friend, Henry Kaese, Sr. first built a water­
powered sawmill on the floodplain below, southeast of the mill from 
which lumber was cut for the mill and a dwelling. In c.1900, Henry, 
Jr. replaced the original wooden wheel with the iron Fitz wheel and 
added the steel rollers for grinding wheat. 

Senator Friend has maintained the mill since 1930. Repairs have 
been made to the foundation, the millrace/flume, the interior with the 
addition of corner bracings, and the Fitz wheel has been painted 
periodically. This wheel was originally covered. 

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY 
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CONTINUE ON SE:E>.ARATE SHEET If NECESSARY March 7, 1935, 

lliJGEOGRAPHICAL DATA 
ACREAGE OF NOMINATED PROPERTY--------

VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION 

LIST ALL STATES AND COUNTIES FOR PROPERTIES OVERLAPPING STATE OR COUNTY BOUNDARIES 

STATE COUNTY 

STATE COUNTY 

mFORM PREPARED BY 
NAME, TITLE 

Donna Ware, Historian 
ORGANIZATION 

Maryland Historical Trust/Bureau of Mines 
STREET & NUMBER 

Shaw House 
CITY OR TOWN.· 

Annapolis 

21 State Circle 

. DATE 

October 1981 
TELEPHONE 

STATE 

Maryland 21401 

The Maryland Historic Sites Inventory was offic~ally created 
by an Act of the Maryland Legislature, to be found in the 
Annotated Code of Maryland, Article 41, Section 181 KA, 
1974 Supplement. 

The Survey and Inventory are being prepared for information 
and record purposes only and do not constitute any infr~nge­
ment of individual property rights. 

RETURN TO: Maryland Historical Trust 
The Shaw House, 21 State Circle 
Annapolis, Maryland 21401 
(301) 267-1438 
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Kaese Mill 
(Continuation - #8) 

Footnotes 

1 
Charles E. Hoye, "Engle Family," Garrett County History of Pioneer 

Families. Oakland: Mountain Democrat, March 7, 1935. 

2 
Ibid. 

3 
The Glades Star, "The Name Accident", Vol. 2, No. 6, June 30, 1951, p. 90. 

4 
Hoye, March 7, 1935. 

5 
Hoye and Senator Clifford Friend. 

(Continuation - #9) 

Lacoste, Ken and Young, Kay. Fieldnotes from Maryland Geological Survey's 
Coal Basin Archeological Survey, June 23, 1980. 
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